
 
 
 
 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

 
Board of County Commissioners 

Committee of the Whole 
First Budget Hearing 

 
Stephen P. Clark Government Center 

Commission Chambers 
111 N.W. First Street 
Miami, Florida  33128 

 
August 26, 2013 
As Advertised 

 
Harvey Ruvin, Clerk 

Board of County Commissioners 
 

 Christopher Agrippa, Director 
Clerk of the Board Division 

 
Cindy Allen, Commission Reporter 

(305) 375-2505 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 1 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

CLERK’S SUMMARY AND OFFICIAL MINUTES 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE ON THE FIRST BUDGET HEARING 

AUGUST 26, 2013 

  

The Board of County Commissioners convened a Committee of the Whole regarding the First 
Budget Hearing in the County Commission Chambers on the Second Floor of the Stephen P. 
Clark Government Center, 111 NW First Street, Miami, Florida at 10:04 a.m. on August 26, 
2013.  Present upon roll call were Chairwoman Rebecca Sosa and Commissioners Lynda Bell, 
Esteban L.  Bovo, Jose “Pepe” Diaz, Audrey M. Edmonson, Sally A. Heyman, Barbara J. 
Jordan, Dennis C. Moss, Javier D. Souto, and Xavier L. Suarez (Commissioners Bruno A. 
Barreiro, Jean Monestime, and Juan C. Zapata were absent).   

The following staff members were also present:  County Mayor Carlos A. Gimenez, County 
Attorney Abigail Price-Williams; Assistant County Attorney Abbie Schwaderer-Raurell; Deputy 
Mayor / Finance Director Edward Marquez; Director, Office of Management and Budget Jennifer 
Moon; Clerk of the Board’s Division Director Christopher Agrippa and Deputy Clerk Alicia 
Stephenson (Minutes prepared by Cindy Allen). 

The Board convened in a moment of silence followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.  County 
Mayor Gimenez requested prayer for Ms. Lisa Martinez; her grandmother passed away 
yesterday (8/25).   

Chairwoman Sosa stated she established the order of meetings for the day, there would be no 
public hearing, and no quorum was needed.  She stated this was an opportunity for Mayor 
Gimenez to present before for the commissioners on where the County stood today (8/26).  She 
stated previous concerns were raised for the Miami-Dade Public Library System, Miami-Dade 
Fire and Rescue Department, Miami-Dade County Animal Services, and public safety.  
Chairwoman Sosa stated that the unions that had declared an impasse’ would present before 
the commissioners on Thursday, August 29, 2013; a quorum was required at this meeting. 

Chairwoman Sosa asked for Mayor Gimenez to proceed with his presentation.  She reminded 
Mayor Gimenez regarding the memorandums he received from the commissioners.  She 
thanked him for recognizing her memorandum regarding the request for reorganization and re-
negotiation with the libraries and the importance of the grants for the Fire and Rescue 
Department.  Chairwoman Sosa expressed her concern for public safety and libraries.  She 
recognized Ms. Lisa Martinez for a job well done.  

Mayor Gimenez agreed with Chairwoman Sosa’s comment regarding Ms. Martinez.  He 
recognized her commitment of public service to the County despite her recent personal loss. 

Mayor Gimenez stated since the Board set the tentative millage rates in July 2013, the 
Administration had worked to address the necessary reductions to keep the operating millage 
rates flat throughout the year.  He noted the Administration had engaged the public with three 
Town Hall meetings to date with three forthcoming.  He stated the taxpayers voiced their 
concerns regarding the Library taxing district, Animal Services, and the Fire and Rescue district.  
Mayor Gimenez stressed the Administration made adjustments for the worst case scenarios 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 2 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

previously presented.  He noted the information could be found on the Memorandum submitted 
to the commissioners on August 23, 2013.   

Mayor Gimenez noted the Administration developed a final recommendation for a sustainable 
two-year library operations budget.  He stated although there would be no branch closures, 
service adjustments were necessary, including 169 lay-offs, reduced library operating hours, 
and a reduced number of personnel at libraries during operating hours.  For a long-term 
sustainable library operations budget, he noted the Administration needed to reexamine how 
libraries were funded.  Mayor Gimenez recommended dissolving the current restrictive library 
taxing district to provide County-wide library services.  He stated the Administration would 
complete a study of library services within the library taxing district as well as library services 
provided by municipalities outside the district.  He stated a Community Working Group would be 
established to review / assess the results of the study and to discuss the future of libraries.  

In regards to the Fire and Rescue Services, Mayor Gimenez stated the worst case scenario was 
six suppression units out of service and up to 149 lay-offs.  He noted staff revised the revenue 
projections and identified additional savings; therefore, restoring three suppression units (three 
would be out of service), reducing the gap to $5.9 million, and reducing the number of lay-offs to 
59.  He emphasized that no stations would be closed and no rescue units would be eliminated; 
85 percent of the calls to the Miami-Dade County Fire and Rescue Department were 
Emergency Medical Service (EMS)-related.  Mayor Gimenez noted the Administration applied 
for a two-year Federal grant to retain all firefighters and keep all units in service; if the grant 
cannot be secured than further lay-offs beyond the 59 would be necessary.  

In regards to Animal Services, Mayor Gimenez noted there was a $4 million budget increase (40 
percent) to continue the No Kill policy and other animal welfare programs.  He stated the build 
out of the new animal shelter was fully funded with an additional $9 million.  He emphasized the 
following initiatives: No Kill policy; pet adoption; return lost animals to owners; foster programs; 
free and low cost sterilization options; furthering community outreach; grant programs for 
surrender prevention, large animal rescue, and responsible pet ownership.  Mayor Gimenez 
noted his continued support for the creation of the Animal Services Advisory Board, and would 
provide a recommendation for its establishment in the near future. 

Several changes in revenues and expenditures required reduction of $10.577 million.  He noted 
in order to balance the budget in the general fund, the following adjustments were necessary: 
elimination of funded vacant positions in several departments; delay in hiring in the County 
Attorney’s Office; elimination of the Office of Countywide Health Care Planning; elimination of 
the funding for the Sports Commission although support would be provided by the Parks, 
Recreation, and Open Spaces (PROS) Department; scaling back on the Cultural Access 
Network Program; and adjustments to various Chambers of Commerce membership payments.  

Mayor Gimenez reiterated that the proposed budget did not require any further concessions 
from County employees, and did not include funding to return concessions to County employees 
currently at an impasse’.  He emphasized the proposed budget did not include elimination of the 
five percent contribution to group health that County employees currently made.  He noted the 
impact to general fund for the restoration of concessions was $37 million for FY 2013-14.  
Mayor Gimenez emphasized that significant service impacts and lay-offs would be necessary to 
fund this expense or any portion of it based on the advertised millage rates.  He noted his 
unwavering commitment to do whatever it took to ensure Miami-Dade County would not follow 
in the footsteps of Detroit, Michigan (filing for bankruptcy), and would not be complicit with 
saddling children and grandchildren with debts they could not pay.  He stated Ms. Jennifer 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 3 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

Moon, Budget Director, Office of Management and Budget (OMB) was present to answer any of 
the commissioner’s questions. 

Commissioner Edmonson expressed her concern regarding County employees making 
concessions to the County; she did not support this decision.  In response to Commissioner 
Edmonson’s inquiry regarding the two employees at the Port of Miami making over $600,000 
combined, Mayor Gimenez explained that Mr. Juan Kuryla, Deputy Port Director was recently 
named the Port Director of Jacksonville, and offered a salary of over $300,000.  He further 
explained that he and the Administration named Mr. Kuryla Port Director Designee and offered 
him $290,000 to keep him in Miami.  He pointed out that Mr. Bill Johnson would be leaving 
within one and a half years due to the Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP).   

Commissioner Edmonson understood the reasoning to keep Mr. Kuryla yet she reiterated her 
concern and many County employees’ concerns regarding paying higher salaries to County 
employees without any disclosure notice.   

Mayor Gimenez stated that the Port of Miami was not a tax supported operation, and had no 
bearing on the available funding in the general fund.  He emphasized that the Administration did 
not want to lose Mr. Kuryla to its competitor, the Port of Jacksonville.  

In response to Commissioner Edmonson’s inquiry regarding the number of employee lay-offs 
proposed in the Library Services Department and Fire and Rescue Department, Mayor Gimenez 
reiterated the numbers.  He pointed out that the Administration would need to negotiate with the 
Labor Department in 2014, taking into account the anticipated revenues (income) and expenses 
(labor costs).  He also pointed out that the Administration would need to perform a 
comprehensive review and negotiate the future of County employee expenses (health care 
benefits and salaries) in Miami-Dade County. 

A discussion ensued between Mayor Gimenez and Commissioner Edmonson regarding the 
Federal Affordable Health Care Act.  Commissioner Edmonson expressed her concern for the 
700,000 uninsured people in Miami-Dade County, of which 114,000 uninsured people were 
within her District 3.  She expressed her concern for a centralized coordinated program within 
Miami-Dade County to assist these uninsured residents in receiving the proper care and 
information.  

In response to Commissioner Edmonson’s question regarding the County’s role, Ms. Jennifer 
Moon stated to the extent that the current County staff was unable to provide the proper 
support, the Administration would work closely with the Public Health Trust (PHT) and the 
Health Council of South Florida to disseminate information and provide a coordinated effort to 
ensure the uninsured were aware of the available opportunities.  She stated the Administration 
would continue to monitor the existing contracts with the Federally Qualified Health Centers and 
the existing grants that helped other entities provide the necessary outreach. 

In response to Commissioner Edmonson’s inquiry regarding merging the Office of Fair 
Employment Practices and Human Resources, Ms. Moon stated that the proposed budget 
included creating a new department combining the Office of Fair Employment Practices with 
Human Resources which was currently a part of the Internal Services Department.  She clarified 
that neither department would be under each other; they would share the back office 
administration space for efficiency measures and cost savings, and both would have a direct 
route to the Mayor.  She added that the Board expressed concern two years ago regarding the 
Office of Fair Employment Practices; a suggestion was made to move this function under the 
Board of County Commissioners (BCC) yet no action had been taken. 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 4 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

In response to Commissioner Edmonson’s inquiry regarding the need for additional fireboat 
crews, Mr. David Downey, Fire Chief, Miami-Dade Fire Rescue Department, stated the expense 
of the fireboats was transferred to the district in last year’s budget; therefore, funding was 
unavailable to maintain fireboat service.  He stated the department tried a few alternatives to 
keep one fireboat operational yet none of the alternatives were successful.  He noted this year’s 
proposed budget also did not include funding for fireboat service.   

Commissioner Edmonson expressed her concern for the fire hazards in her District 3 and 
Commissioners Heyman’s, Suarez’, and Moss’ (Districts 4, 7, and 9, respectively) who served 
the coastal areas and barrier islands.   

Mr. Downey stated the department made tough decisions regarding prioritizing service.  He 
noted none of the barrier islands were occupied on a full-time basis, and there were no 
significant life hazards, although there were property and environmental hazards. 

Mayor Gimenez stated that the barrier islands that Commissioner Edmonson referred to were 
located in the City of Miami.  He stated the County’s Fire Rescue Department was not County-
wide; the department provided service to the unincorporated areas and those cities that 
contracted with the Miami-Dade County Fire Rescue Department.  He noted the City of Miami, 
the City of Miami Beach, the City of Coral Gables, and the City of Key Biscayne had their own 
fire departments and provided service to their own areas.  Mayor Gimenez stated he directed 
Mr. Downey to work with the other municipalities, especially the City of Miami, since it had a 
fireboat; it was time to cooperate and share responsibilities / services when necessary.  

Commissioner Edmonson expressed her concern for the County using the employees to 
balance the books instead of using alternative ways and means.  She expressed her concern 
for employees continuing to pay a five percent contribution for group health insurance, yet being 
laid off due to insufficient funding.   

Mayor Gimenez stated he did not want to give back the four percent to the County employees 
last year, yet he compromised; therefore, the financial situation was worse this year.  He stated 
the Administration did not request for the County employees to make any additional 
concessions, yet he did not want the County to give back prior concessions which would result 
in additional lay-offs, and reduced services.   

In response to Commissioner Edmonson’s inquiry regarding a report showing the number of 
employees on light-duty status, the time duration for this status, and the number of employees 
eligible to return to regular duty at their former capacities, Mr. Downey stated he could get the 
exact numbers yet he thought there were approximately 81 employees on temporary restrictive 
duty or light-duty, and they were paid their full salary. 

Mayor Gimenez agreed with Commissioner Edmonson that the light-duty policy needed to be 
reviewed; he noted one employee had been on light-duty for 14 years.  He believed this was a 
prevailing benefit that needed to be negotiated with the local union. 

Commissioner Edmonson reiterated her request for a detailed light-duty report to be reviewed 
by all of the commissioners.   

Mr. Downey stated he would submit a report to the commissioners.  He clarified that none of the 
employees were eligible to return to regular duty.  He stated that those employees who were 
service-connected saw the Worker’s Compensation physicians.  He noted the majority of the 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 5 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

light-duty employees were working in clerical support / administrative functions; the standards 
for firefighters did not allow them to work as firefighters. 

In response to Chairwoman Sosa’s inquiry regarding the average salary for the light-duty 
employees, Mr. Downey clarified the employees were paid the salary commensurate for what 
they would be performing out in the field.   

Mr. Charles Anderson, Commission Auditor, read into record the average salaries for all 
firefighters and the average salaries for the Lieutenant Firefighter, Fire Captain, and Fire Chief 
Officer, respectively from the payroll data report.   

Ms. Moon clarified that the information given by Mr. Anderson was the average take home pay 
including overtime, yet the light-duty employees weren’t paid overtime.  She said she would 
provide the information to the commissioners. 

Chairwoman Sosa clarified her request for a detailed report showing the number of employees 
and the average salaries for all light-duty employees within all of the County departments. 

Mayor Gimenez requested to know where Mr. Anderson obtained the information; the 
information given to him by the department showed higher salaries (base pay and overtime). 

Chairwoman Sosa stressed that the Mayor Gimenez and Mr. Anderson needed to confer to 
ensure the commissioners and the public obtained the right information. 

Mr. Anderson clarified that he quoted the annual adjusted salaries; he quoted a few of the total 
salaries plus fringe benefits. 

Commissioner Heyman recommended reviewing the contracts for all light-duty employees to 
see if anything precluded them from performing light-duty services in other departments that 
had experienced cutbacks; this would ensure maximization of County services instead of lay-
offs.  

Mayor Gimenez agreed with Commissioner Heyman’s suggestion, and stated the Administration 
would research this further. 

Commissioner Edmonson stated she was pleased to see that the Disparity Study was 
progressing forward, and was anticipating its completion by the spring of 2014.  She 
recommended that the Administration set aside funding to pay for the implementation of the 
recommendations that came from this study.   

Ms. Moon stated that the Administration set aside the funding to pay for the study, and they will 
assess how they will meet the recommendations for improvement. 

In response to Commissioner Jordan’s request for clarification regarding the original five percent 
and the additional four percent County employee contribution for health care, Mayor Gimenez 
and Ms. Moon clarified the original five percent employee contribution began in FY 2009-10 and 
the additional five percent employee contribution was negotiated to four percent thereafter.   

Ms. Moon stated the Administration anticipated paying the employees back the four percent 
when sufficient funds were available.  She stated that, unfortunately, the decrease in the 
property tax roll and the actions by the State Legislature precluded the Administration from 
paying back these funds. 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 6 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

Mayor Gimenez clarified that a legal issue ensued regarding the total nine percent employee 
contribution for health care; this contribution was up for re-negotiation with the labor unions this 
year. 

Commissioner Jordan expressed her concern regarding keeping the commitment to pay back 
the four percent to the employees.  She reminded Mayor Gimenez that the employees suffered 
through furloughs as well as pay cuts over the last several years. 

In response to Commissioner Jordan’s request for clarification on the Mayor Gimenez’ comment 
earlier regarding “not on my watch”, Mayor Gimenez stated he was referring to what happened 
in Detroit, Michigan (filing for bankruptcy).   

Mayor Gimenez stated that during the recession, he and the Administration negotiated with the 
labor unions for County employee concessions.  He pointed out that everyone agreed that as 
the economic situation improved and based on the affordability, some of the concessions would 
be paid back over time.  He emphasized that he and the Administration made good faith 
negotiations based on conditions that were open for re-negotiations each year.  Mayor Gimenez 
noted, unfortunately, the economic situation had not improved sufficiently, yet the concessions 
were open for re-negotiations as agreed upon earlier. 

In response to Commissioner Jordan’s inquiry regarding firefighters’ salaries based on 
classifications and certifications, Mr. Downey agreed that the firefighters on restrictive light-duty 
were still paid based on their particular classification and certifications not at reduced salaries.  
Commissioner Jordan recommended that the light-duty salary information reflect the starting 
pay and maximum pay in each firefighter classification rather than reflect all of the certifications.  
She stated the salaries would be otherwise skewed based on additional pay for different 
certifications / specializations that each firefighter possessed, i.e. divers and hazardous 
materials.  In response to Commissioner Jordan’s inquiry regarding increased risk to the 
department due to firefighters on light-duty for long periods of time, Mr. Downey reassured 
Commissioner Jordan that the department backfilled these open positions with qualified / 
certified firefighters. 

In response to Commissioner Jordan’s inquiry regarding the Miami Herald report that $9.1 
million of Fire District funds from FY 2009-10 was deposited into the general fund, Ms. Moon 
reminded the commissioners that there were two years in a row that transfers were made from 
the proprietary departments into the County’s Emergency Contingency Reserve; the Fire District 
was one of those departments.  She stated these funds were available for use by the Fire 
District.  She referred to last week’s Memorandum regarding a pending issue with the collection 
of ad valorem revenues in the current year.  Ms. Moon stressed that the Fire District should not 
have expenditures that exceed current revenues (negative fund balance).  She clarified that the 
funds were not in the budgetary / operating general fund.  Although the funds were in the 
general fund for purposes of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, she explained the 
funds were not considered revenue or an expense in Fund 10 which was subsidized by the 
County-wide and Unincorporated Municipal Services Area (UMSA) ad valorem revenues. 

In response to the Commissioner Jordan’s inquiry regarding the Miami Herald report that a $17 
million annual payment was made by the Fire Department into the general fund, Ms. Moon 
clarified that the Fire Department as well as all the other County departments that operated 
outside of the general fund made annual payments to support the administrative activities within 
the general fund and services these departments received from the Internal Services 
Department (ISD)and the Information Technology Department (ITD).  She stated that every 
department was treated the same as it related to the calculation of these payments for proper 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 7 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

distribution of the costs of the effort related to the administrative activities.  She stated this 
showed that proprietary revenues supported the County’s administrative activities, i.e. policy 
formulation functions, internal management functions, Audit and Management Services (AMS), 
Office of Management and Budget (OMB), and Human Resources (HR); all of these 
departments within the general fund provided services for every department within the County.  
Ms. Moon noted higher levels of authority within the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and 
the Federal Office of Inspector General (OIG) reviewed and authorized these appropriate 
transfers. 

Commissioner Jordan stated she supported keeping Mr. Kuryla at the Port of Miami and did not 
want to lose him to Jacksonville.  She expressed her concern for paying large salaries to Mr. 
Kuryla, the Seaport Designate and Mr. Bill Johnson, the current Seaport Director.  In response 
to Commissioner Jordan’s question regarding Mr. Johnson’s drop date, Mr. Johnson stated his 
drop date was June 2015. 

Commissioner Edmonson agreed with Commissioner Jordan and reiterated her concern 
regarding the two massive salaries in one location / department. 

Mayor Gimenez defended his decision for offering Mr. Kuryla more money than what Mr. 
Johnson was making, yet less than what Mr. Kuryla was offered at the Port of Jacksonville.  He 
emphasized that the decision was made in the best interest of Miami-Dade County; the Port of 
Miami was self-sustaining and was not tax funded. 

A further discussion ensued between Mayor Gimenez and Commissioner Jordan regarding the 
salaries for Mr. Kuryla and Mr. Johnson.  In response to Chairwoman Sosa’s inquiry regarding 
salaries within department budgets, Assistant County Attorney Abigail Price-Williams stated that 
Mayor Gimenez was tasked with setting specific salaries and the Board of County 
Commissioners (BCC) had the authority as a matter of policy to set salaries in terms of a range. 

Commissioner Jordan recommended that Mayor Gimenez review the salaries for all department 
Directors and their Deputy Directors. 

In response to Commissioner Jordan’s inquiry regarding the Library District funds paying for 
other activities, Ms. Moon stated that one year Library District funds were used to pay for 
cultural grants / programs that were operating in the Library District.  She reiterated that like the 
Fire District and other proprietary functions / departments, the Library District paid an 
administrative reimbursement to the general fund and paid for their ITD and ISD costs through 
the funding models the Administration developed.  She also reiterated that the Library District 
funds were used to pay for cultural programs that furthered the cultural opportunities, i.e. 
purchases of artwork, within the Library District.  Ms. Moon noted this only occurred for one 
year; it was a way to balance the budget and was allowable under the rules that governed the 
use of those funds. 

Commissioner Jordan expressed her concern to Mayor Gimenez for the elimination of health 
care planning and turning the responsibilities over to the Health Council of South Florida.   

Ms. Moon clarified the Administration was not turning the responsibilities over to this 
organization; the Administration intended to use these resources along with resources from the 
Public Health Trust to address situations that could not be addressed by existing staff. 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 8 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

In response to Commissioner Jordan’s concern for a direct liaison to the BCC to keep them 
abreast with the transition of the healthcare legislation and services, Mayor Gimenez stated the 
Administration would take this into consideration. 

In response to Commissioner Jordan’s expressed concern regarding the possible lay-off of 169 
library employees and 59 firefighters, Mayor Gimenez stated the County would be notified in 
mid to late October regarding the grant funding.  He stated the County would keep the Fire and 
Rescue Department functioning in the same way (all units and services), yet if the County did 
not receive the grant funding it would have to carry the department through one month; 
therefore, an additional five to ten firefighters would be laid off as well.  He was hopeful the 
County would receive the grant funding. 

Commissioner Jordan stated she was hopeful as well, and was concerned for the newest 
recruits who left other fire departments to come to Miami-Dade County Fire and Rescue 
Department for an opportunity.  

In response to Commissioner Jordan’s question regarding the Library Department’s hours of 
operation and the level of operations, Mr. Raymond Santiago, Director, Miami-Dade Public 
Library System, stated the department looked at library usage, geography, and determined the 
best way to spread the hours around.  In response to Commissioner Jordan’s question 
regarding adjustments to personnel and hours, Mr. Santiago stated the adjustments were made 
across the board.  Commissioner Jordan requested a side by side comparison of existing and 
proposed administration, personnel, and services for each of the libraries.   

Mayor Gimenez stated the Administration developed a side by side comparison and would 
forward this to Commissioner Jordan. 

Commissioner Jordan expressed her concern for fighting for life safety services and education 
of adults and children in the community.  She also expressed her concern that Miami-Dade 
County would become a second class community due to not allowing voters to support raising 
taxes to provide needed services.  

Commissioner Bell stated that she supported Mayor Gimenez’ decision regarding keeping both 
Mr. Kuryla and Mr. Johnson as part of the Administration at the Port of Miami.  She believed the 
Port of Miami was a world- class international port and was fortunate to have the two best 
directors in the nation.  She noted all four projects were on time and on budget (the Dredge 
Project, the Port Tunnel Project, the Rail Project, and the Super Post-Panamax Cranes).  
Commissioner Bell emphasized that the Port of Miami was a revenue-generating organization of 
Miami-Dade County, and an enterprise fund that was not relevant to the general fund budget. 

In response to Commissioner Bell’s inquiry regarding the $2.5 - $2.8 million in the reserve fund 
for the Head Start Program, Ms. Moon stated that the Administration reserved the County 
matched funding to address the potential reductions in the Head Start Program due to the 
Federal Sequestration impacts and to address the State removal of the Early Learning Coalition 
activity from the County.  Commissioner Bell expressed her concern for another unfunded 
mandate liability.  She noted the commissioners voted a year ago to live within their budget and 
the County would be the pass-through agency for the outsourced educational agencies to utilize 
the Federal grant funding.  She emphasized that the County should keep the integrity and 
solvency of the Head Start Program.  

Chairwoman Sosa stated that the County was unfortunately blamed due to the Federal 
government’s reduction in Head Start Program funding.  She stated that decisions at the 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 9 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

Federal and State levels had greatly impacted local funding.  She emphasized the County was 
taking care of business and relying on hard working people.  

Mayor Gimenez clarified that Miami-Dade County was the grantee not the operator of the Head 
Start Program.  He stated that the School Board, Early Learning Coalition, and other 
educational agencies operated this program.   

Mr. Russell Benford, Deputy Mayor, stated that the County delegated additional slots for the 
Head Start Program due to outsourcing, yet the Federal government subsequently cut the 
funding of the program by 5.27 percent; the Administration moved the money to the reserve 
fund to maintain the current level rather than lose the additional slots. 

Commissioner Bell reiterated her comments regarding the adopted policy that the County would 
be the pass-through agency and the outsourced educational agencies would be the operators of 
the Head Start Program.  She expressed her concern that the County was taking on more 
liability by reserving funding in the general funds instead of using the Federal grant funding.  

Chairwoman Sosa clarified to Mayor Gimenez that the Commission adopted a resolution that 
she sponsored regarding the Federal government allowing the County to use the training funds 
to keep children in the Head Start Program rather than using County general funds.    

Mr. Benford stated he communicated regularly with the Federal government and there had been 
no change on holding training funding to be used for other purposes, therefore, reducing the 
training budget. 

Chairwoman Sosa implored Mayor Gimenez to get involved in this issue. 

Commissioner Bell noted the Miami-Dade County taxpayers paid their taxes for services yet a 
good portion of this funding paid for education.  She stated that funding from services to be cut, 
i.e. the Neat Team, Pot Hole Crew, and the Sports Commission, could be used more effectively.  
She explained that the Neat Team, a scaled down version of Team Metro, cleaned debris from 
the streets and the Pot Hole Crew repaired local roads.  Commissioner Bell also explained that 
the Sports Commission, with one Executive Director and two employees, raised $500,000 to 
pay previously incurred debt; the Sports Commission was needed to attract international soccer 
and other sports to the area.  She stated that she as the new Sports Commissioner wanted to 
maintain the integrity of this department; she believed Commissioner Diaz did a great work as 
Sports Commissioner for many years. 

Mayor Gimenez stated the Administration had discussions with outside agencies regarding 
funding for the Sports Commission; the County would fund the staff position. 

In response to the Commissioner Bell’s inquiry regarding light-duty employees, Mayor Gimenez 
stated some employees were injured on-duty and some were injured off-duty.  Commissioner 
Bell stated the Administration should reevaluate these employees’ situations on a regular basis 
to see what level of jobs they could return to or utilize them in other departments.  She 
emphasized that the Administration needed to do what was best for the County taxpayers and 
the employees as it related to dealing with the Bargaining Units. 

Mayor Gimenez stated that employees wanted security in their job incomes.  He hoped for 
productive negotiations and budgeting for projected incomes, spending within parameters, and 
emergency contingency reserves to build a solid financial footing.   



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 10 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

Commissioner Bell stated she received more complaints regarding fire inspections and fees / 
fines at businesses.  In response to her request for clarification regarding firefighters performing 
fire inspections at firefighter salaries, Mr. Downey stated that the majority of the fire inspectors 
were State-certified fire inspectors (Fire Inspector 1 and 2 supervised by uniformed personnel), 
although some were fire officials.  Commission Bell requested a report showing the total fees / 
fines collected from businesses in Miami-Dade County from 2011 – 2013. 

Chairwoman Sosa stated that the Commission adopted a resolution and the department was 
working with the Administration on the issues raised by Commissioner Bell; having different 
inspectors on the same project had caused increased time delays and costs.  She emphasized 
that having one inspector on the project from beginning to end would streamline the process, 
saving time and money.  She commended the Fire Department Director for his efforts in righting 
the situation.  

Commissioner Diaz congratulated Mayor Gimenez for his work on the Seaport issues.  He 
noted Miami-Dade County’s economy relied on the Miami International Airport (MIA) and the 
Seaport / Port of Miami due to its trade and tourism. 

Mayor Gimenez noted the Panama Canal was scheduled to open in 2015 and he vowed that 
the County would not be in a state of flux during that time.  He emphasized the County invested 
$1 billion in the following projects: completion of the Port Tunnel; reconnecting the port to rail; 
installing large cranes; and the upcoming $200 million Dredge Project.  He defended his 
decision regarding keeping Mr. Kuryla. 

Commissioner Diaz stated that new logistics companies were coming to Miami based on the 
anticipated opening of the Panama Canal; he hoped that the port would be open 24 hours / 
seven days a week.   

In response to Commissioner Diaz’ question regarding the firefighters pay, Mayor Gimenez 
reiterated the firefighters would be paid out of the budget until the grant was received.  He 
mentioned other options that the Administration and the Labor Department would need to 
resolve. 

Commissioner Diaz hoped for a resolution with the Coast Guard regarding use of the fireboat 
along with the County’s fireboat as first responders for emergency purposes. 

Commissioner Diaz requested a report from the Administration regarding light-duty employees 
in all departments (quantity, duration, and list of status).  Mayor Gimenez agreed to the 
development of this report; he stated that the greatest number of on-duty injuries were in the 
Fire and Police Departments. 

Commissioner Diaz briefly spoke about different issues, i.e. Animal Services (No Kill policy and 
the forthcoming animal shelter); libraries with computers; improving fire inspections; and 
keeping the Sports Commission.  

Commissioner Heyman thanked Mayor Gimenez for the deliberation and the upcoming analysis 
of all the County departments.  She emphasized that the budget process and deliberations 
needed improvement.  She requested clarification on the budgets, administrative costs, revenue 
generation and funds shifting as it related to the libraries and Fire Department.  Commissioner 
Heyman encouraged Mayor Gimenez and the Administration to use an aggressive and 
comprehensive assessment of all operation costs, and was hopeful for future flexibility in the 
budget as the economy improved.   



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 11 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

Commissioner Heyman noted she reviewed the Proposed Budget and Capital Plan, and pointed 
out the following issues: renegotiations on library contracts; review of library shift costs for 
multiple programs (children’s after school, special needs, and adult) rather than reduction of 
staff and hours of operation; ownership of two fireboats that were inoperable.  

Commissioner Heyman requested a reassessment and comprehensive breakdown of all 
departmental expenses; and assessments of proprietary departments, i.e. Sports Commission 
and film industry.  

Commissioner Heyman recommended delaying certain capital expenditures, i.e. purchase of 
buildings; and expediting arrests affidavits with Information Technology Department (ITD).   

Commissioner Heyman questioned the following increases and reductions: $8.4 million increase 
yet a reduction of 98 employees in the Internal Services Department; $19.87 million reduction in 
Chamber of Commerce / Community Based Organizations (CBO’s); movement of funding from 
the Community Action Human Services to the Early Learning Coalition (ELC); $2 million 
increase in Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources (RER); $1.9 million increase 
and addition of four employees in Community Information and Outreach; recommendations for 
the Election Department; addition of 28 employees in the Finance Department; escalating health 
care benefits and new healthcare carrier; addition of ten employees in Cultural Affairs; addition 
of 16 employees at Vizcaya Museum and Gardens; escalating costs for Special Transportation 
Service (STS) yet free ridership on Metrorail / Metromover; handicapped parking revenue; 
Metrorail Lehman Center Facility upgrade; $16 million increase in the Corrections and 
Rehabilitation Department.  

Mayor Gimenez noted Library Department rental space (administration and storage) was 
reduced, and the Fire and Rescue Department rental space was charged; the limited 
departmental funding of each was stretched to the maximum degree. 

Ms. Moon explained that the Administration had spoken with many stakeholders that wanted to 
utilize the library facilities to provide services, i.e. South Florida Workforce and the Miami 
Children’s Initiative.   

Mayor Gimenez recommended keeping both fireboats rather than selling one at a much 
reduced price; he hoped both could be put back in service when sufficient funds were available.  
He emphasized the need for increased cooperation between the jurisdictions. 

Mayor Gimenez clarified that the majority of the increases in personnel benefits included 
pensions and healthcare costs.  He stated that the budget was difficult to handle due to these 
escalating personnel costs without the same rate of escalating revenues to pay for them. 

Ms. Moon explained that there was confusion between memberships with Chambers of 
Commerce and certain chambers that received funding through the CBO’s process and 
provided social services.  She clarified that the Administration made a clear delineation between 
the organizations that provided social services from certain chambers’ membership payments; 
social services were reserved in the CBO funding.  She referenced the letter of 
recommendations that Commissioner Heyman received last week.   

Ms. Moon explained that the State of Florida decided that the Early Learning Coalition (ELC) 
would provide the support for the Voluntary Pre-Kindergarten Education Program (VPK); the 
County was no longer acting as the pass through entity.  She clarified that these funds were 
reserved for the impacts of sequestration on the Head Start Program. 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 12 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

Mayor Gimenez noted the Administration cut three months of time from the permitting process; 
they were cutting out as much bureaucracy as possible yet build in a safe manner. 

Ms. Moon stated the fringe benefits (Florida Retirement System (FRS) rate changes and 
increased healthcare insurance costs) caused the $2 million increase in RER. 

Ms. Moon noted 311 Service was included in the Community Information and Outreach.  She 
explained that the four additional positions were funded by service level agreements with 
proprietary departments that funded the support for the 311 portal, website, and other services.  

Ms. Moon confirmed that the Elections Department budget included the recommendations made 
by the Task Force, i.e. funding in the capital budget to purchase new equipment and funding in 
the operating budget for the additional training.  She noted the overall budget for this 
department decreased due to the elections cycle. 

Ms. Moon explained that the increased personnel in the Finance Department were necessary 
for improved County revenues collection (credit and tax revenues) and accounts payable 
processing.   

Mayor Gimenez stated the healthcare insurance was subject to negotiations with the labor 
unions.  He emphasized that the County needed to do business differently by taking control of 
healthcare costs. 

Mr. Edward Marquez, Deputy Mayor / Finance Director, stated the Request for Proposal (RFP) 
for healthcare insurance would go out in October or November 2013 to have a new program in 
place by January 2015.  He working to reduce medical expenses with Jackson Memorial 
Hospital and other service providers, and meeting with the labor unions for their requirements.  
He noted Miami-Dade County’s present healthcare insurance program was top-notch yet 
expensive and rates were escalating.  He would also factor in the impacts of the Healthcare 
Reform Act.  

Mayor Gimenez noted the Metromover issue was part of the 2002 ballot question regarding the 
half cent increase; a promise kept.  He clarified that the County subsidized the STS system at 
$30 million per year.  He stated that due to escalating costs, some of the costs needed to be 
passed on to the user for at-home service. 

Mayor Gimenez clarified that the County subsidized the STS system at $30 million.  He stated 
that, unfortunately, some of the costs needed to be passed to the user for at-home service. 

Mr. Robert Villar, Assistant Director of Finance, Miami-Dade Transit, noted there was an 
ongoing capital project for the Metrorail Central Control Upgrade and Lehman Yard 
Rehabilitation; the control board that Commissioner Heyman referred to would be upgraded / 
modernized. 

Mayor Gimenez noted the $16 million increase for the Corrections and Rehabilitation 
Department included $9 million for healthcare benefits and $7 million for pensions.  He agreed 
with Commissioner Heyman that he and the Administration needed to review the system for 
better efficiency and modernization.  He emphasized that the Administration and the department 
Director will work together to use available General Obligation Bond (GOB) funds to build more 
facilities for the mental health inmates. 

Commissioner Bovo stated that the government typically cut the budget or raised taxes; it would 
never explore new ways of operation.   



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 13 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

In response to Commissioner Bovo’s question regarding the Administration assessing the 
impact of Obamacare on the County, Mayor Gimenez stated the Administration did not know the 
impact yet.  He realized the Administration would need to closely monitor the hours of part-time 
workers; Obamacare required that the County provide healthcare insurance to any part-time 
workers working over 30 hours per week.  He noted there were penalties involved if the County 
did not provide healthcare insurance to full-time workers.   

Mayor Gimenez emphasized that the County needed to control the healthcare costs by being a 
major stakeholder and working with the Public Health Trust and Jackson Memorial Hospital; 
some of the freedoms that the elected officials and employees had on decisions regarding 
healthcare needs would be limited. 

Commissioner Bovo pointed out that a recent Miami Herald article reported 48 union employees 
were paid by the County, including 19 employees from one department.  In response to his 
question regarding union employees performing union work yet paid by the County, Mayor 
Gimenez confirmed this was part of the contract the County had with the labor unions subject to 
negotiations; 19 Miami-Dade Transit (MDT) employees worked for the union, yet were paid by 
the County and employees in other departments were paid considerably higher salaries. 

In response to Chairwoman Sosa’s question regarding the County paying MDT employees 
$50.00 to come to work, Ms. Arleene Cuellar, Assistant Director, Internal Services Department, 
confirmed that the $50.00 premium payment was currently suspended for all unions.  She 
clarified that the Absentee Bonus related to the Absenteeism Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) was under review by the department and the labor union for annual goal achievement. 

Mr. Villar explained the MDT MOU in further detail. 

Mayor Gimenez clarified that the MDT MOU was instituted by the union to curb absenteeism 
throughout the year.  He stated that this was approved by the Board of County Commissioners 
(BCC) when he was a commissioner.  

In response to Commissioner Bovo’s question regarding the policy that firefighters worked a 24 
hour shift and were off 48 hours instead of working regular eight hour shifts or a 40 hour week, 
Mayor Gimenez explained the history and the current policy.  He clarified that the extra eight 
hours was at the regular pay rate not overtime. 

Commissioner Bovo recommended that some of the parks buildings be used to house libraries 
to alleviate the store front leasing costs for the library system.  He also recommended 
combining small food and coffee services within the libraries.  He reiterated that the library 
system needed to be revamped.  Commissioner Bovo emphasized that Mayor Gimenez and the 
commissioners needed to honor their fiduciary responsibility to the taxpayers. 

Mayor Gimenez clarified that the County was changing the way it did business, especially within 
the library system, i.e. the use of Wi-Fi internet zones. 

Mr. Raymond Santiago, Director, Miami-Dade Public Library System, stated that tutors and 
lawyers used the libraries as business venues to meet with their clients.  He mentioned renting 
library space to business people, partnering with food and coffee services, and giving people 
access to electronic books and materials. 

Chairwoman Sosa agreed with keeping Mr. Kuryla as part of the Port of Miami/Seaport 
Administration. 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 14 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

Chairwoman Sosa cautioned the Administration to ensure that grants were given to cultural and 
educational programs that only occurred within the libraries.  She stressed she did not want to 
see a repeat of what occurred under the prior Administration. 

Chairwoman Sosa reiterated her Memorandum to Mayor Gimenez regarding revenue- 
generating concessions and partnerships within the libraries.  She mentioned Commissioner 
Bovo’s upcoming legislation regarding this issue.  She emphasized that the County needed to 
review their business partners to ensure compatibility and accessibility by students, parents, 
and senior adults. 

In response to Chairwoman Sosa’s question regarding firefighters and paramedics, Mayor 
Gimenez stated that a majority of the firefighters were paramedics.  In response to Chairwoman 
Sosa’s question regarding the suppression units, Mayor Gimenez confirmed that the three 
suppression units to be out of service were determined to impact the service levels the least; 
these units were staffed with paramedics, yet did not possess the same equipment of a rescue 
unit. 

Mr. Downey stated that about 83 percent of the firefighters were paramedics; over 1600 of the 
1900 firefighters were paramedics, and the remaining firefighters were Emergency Medical 
Technicians (EMT’s).  He explained that of the 108 fire and rescue trucks, 100 of them were 
permitted as Advanced Life Support (ALS), staffed with a minimum of two paramedics.  He 
further explained that the other eight suppression units were Basic Life Support (BLS), providing 
emergency medical care. 

In response to Chairwoman Sosa’s question regarding the average number of fires in Miami-
Dade County in six months, Mr. Downey stated there were ten fires per day. 

In response to Chairwoman Sosa’s reiteration of a prior request for a report from Mayor 
Gimenez and the Administration regarding the number of fires and the addresses during the 
past year, Mayor Gimenez stated the Administration would furnish this information within one 
day.  He noted 85 percent of the calls were for Emergency Medical Services (EMS); the 
remaining calls were fire calls. 

Chairwoman Sosa stated that she raised these questions due to public concern regarding the 
reduction of rescue units; she realized the public needed to be educated. 

Chairwoman Sosa requested a report regarding all of the light-duty employees in all of the 
departments, differentiating those injured on the job and those injured outside.   

In response to Chairwoman Sosa’s comment regarding the County working with the local 
municipal governments in providing services, Mayor Gimenez stated that the departments 
worked well together in emergency situations, yet needed improvement in the non-emergency 
situations; therefore, augmented services for the betterment of the taxpayers. 

Chairwoman Sosa noted the Miami-Dade County Police Department was of upmost importance 
within the County as it related to public safety.  She stated that the Miami-Dade County Fire and 
Rescue Department and education were also top priorities. 

In response to Chairwoman Sosa’s question regarding the Fire and Rescue Department’s 
medical insurance availability for the Police Department, Ms. Moon clarified that the Fire Union 
had its own insurance plan and the participants paid a premium.  She noted the Police Union 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 15 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

had its own insurance plan in prior years, yet the Administration took control of the situation.  
She stated the Fire Union’s insurance plan was an available option for the police. 

Chairwoman Sosa commended Mayor Gimenez for the expansion for new and existing 
programs as it related to Animal Services.  She also commended Mayor Gimenez for the work 
on the overall budget without raising taxes. 

Commissioner Edmonson stated for the record that her colleagues were wrong in stating that 
Mayor Gimenez made a wrong decision regarding the Director for the Port of Miami / Seaport.  
She also stated for the record that Mayor Gimenez made the right decision on the $2 million 
support for the children’s Head Start Program; she believed children came first before pot holes, 
Neat Teams, and Sports Commissions. 

Commissioner Barreiro noted he drafted legislation recommending that each individual district 
have a separate vote on all of the budgets to add transparency to the process. 

Chairwoman Sosa recommended that Mayor Gimenez and the Administration needed to 
research the possibility of the Fire and Rescue Department being paid from the general fund 
similar to the Police Department. 

Commissioner Jordan agreed with Commissioner Edmonson regarding keeping Mr. Kuryla and 
the Head Start Program allocation of reserve funds and the economies of scale. 

Commissioner Bell stated she respected her colleagues and meant no harm by her comments.  
She clarified that the reserve funds within the Head Start Program were meant for services and 
the Commission should not send mixed messages to the State or to the Federal government. 

Mayor Gimenez clarified that his commitment to children was paramount; he stated that the 
Administration saved funding from the Early Learning Coalition to create more slots for the Head 
Start Program; both were children’s programs.  He stated the Administration would clarify if they 
could use the reserve training funds for other purposes. 

Chairwoman Sosa recommended that Mayor Gimenez and the Administration should clarify if 
the reserve funds within the Head Start Program could be used for other purposes. 

Commissioner Heyman recommended that while Mayor Gimenez and the Administration were 
performing a comprehensive prudent review of all the departmental budgets, they make the 
necessary adjustments to improve efficiencies and reduce or cut unnecessary services. 

Mayor Gimenez congratulated Ms. Kathleen Woods-Richardson for being named the new City 
Manager of Miramar, Florida. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



August 26, 2013 Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes Page 16 of 16 
 Board of County Commissioners 
 Committee of the Whole on the First Budget Hearing 

ADJOURNMENT 

Hearing no further discussion by the Commissioners, the Committee of the Whole meeting 
adjourned at 2:13 p.m. 

 

 

 

Note: These minutes were archived without the Chairwoman’s signature because 
the Chairwoman’s term of office expired before her signature was acquired. 

 

 



Board of County Commissioners 
Committee of the Whole First Budget Hearing  

August 26, 2013 
  

Prepared by: Cindy L. Allen  

EXHIBITS LIST 

   
 

NO. DATE ITEM # DESCRIPTION 

1 8/26/2013  Chairwoman Sosa’s Memorandum – Order of Meetings for August 26, 
2013 

2 8/26/2013  Copy of OCA Report for FY 2013-14 Proposed Budget by Charles 
Anderson, Commission Auditor, OCA 

3 8/26/2013  Commissioner Monestime’s Memorandum – Notice of Absence 

4 8/26/2013  Commissioner Suarez’ Memorandum – Notice of Absence 

5    

6    

7    

8    

9    

10    

11    

12    

13    

14     

15    

16    

17    

18    

19    

20    


















































	Minutes
	Exhibits List
	Chairwoman Sosa's Memorandum - Order of Meetings for August 26, 2013
	Copy of OCA Report for FY 2013-14 Proposed Budget by Charles Anderson, Commission Auditor, OCA
	Commissioner Monestime's Memorandum - Notice of Absence
	Commissioner Suarez' Memorandum - Notice of Absence

